

1475 Merivale Road Ottawa, Ontario, Canada K2E 5N9 Telephone: (613) 225-2889

# Safe Church Policy Version 11.0

# **Table of Contents**

1.	Introduction	3				
2.	Policy Statement					
3.	Definitions/ACRONYMS					
4.	Guiding Principles					
5.	· ·					
J.	5.1. General Risk Reduction Strategies					
	5.2. Discipline in Church Programs					
	5.3. Screening					
	5.4. Transportation of Minors					
	5.5. Training and Information					
	5.6. Taking and Online Posting of Pictures and Videos					
	5.7. Visiting Logs					
	5.8. Harassment	11				
6.	Codes of Conduct					
	6.1. Code of Conduct for Pastoral Staff	11				
	6.2. Code of Conduct for Non-pastoral Staff	12				
	6.3. Code of Conduct for Elders, Deacons, and Other Pastoral Care Workers	12				
	6.4. Code of Conduct for Youth Program Leaders	13				
7.	Policies for Specific Programs	14				
	7.1. Childcare/Nursery	14				
	7.2. Church School Program	15				
	7.3. Girls and Boys Clubs					
	7.4. Clubs for Teens and Young People					
	7.5. Friendship Group					
8.	Accountability17					
9.	Safe Church Committee18					
10.	Reporting of Abuse	19				
	10.1. General Policies	19				
	10.2. Protocol for Reporting Abuse	19				
11.						
12.	12. Record of Adoption and Revision of Safe Church Policy					
aqA	Appendix A. Guidelines for Hall Monitors					
Appendix B. Calvin Christian Reformed Church – Safe Church Pledge						

## 1. INTRODUCTION

Calvin Christian Reformed Church, as one expression of God's family, strives to be a community where every person is treated with respect and embraced in love, regardless of age, race, gender, or socio-economic status. We are committed to creating an environment that nurtures the dignity and safety of every person.

We acknowledge that sin still finds expression within our church. One expression of sin is the misuse of power and abuse of other people. The spiritual root of all forms of abuse is the irresponsible use of power, including the betrayal of trust within the body of Christ. We celebrate that Christ died to set us free from the bondage of sin. But, until Christ returns, Calvin Church needs to take deliberate measures to guard against the sin of abuse. The following Safe Church policy is one of those measures.

#### 2. POLICY STATEMENT

Calvin Church will strive to create a safe environment for worship, learning and fellowship by the participants, volunteers, and staff involved in programs and activities through ongoing implementation of the following prevention measures:

- 1. Adoption and adherence to the Safe Church Policy for all church programs and activities.
- 2. Reading of the policy and completing the necessary forms.
- 3. Implementation of specific policies designed for each program.
- 4. Adoption of a protocol to be followed when there are allegations of abuse against any person or when evidence of abuse is recognized.

  Regular training in awareness of abuse and use of the protocol.

## 3. DEFINITIONS/ACRONYMS

**Abuse**: Calvin CRC accepts the following definitions of abuse:

- Physical Abuse: any non-accidental act that violates the dignity of the image of God in another person, inflicting dehumanizing pain or injury. Physically abusive behaviour also includes physical neglect, which means not doing what one is supposed to be doing to meet the physical needs of someone in his or her care.
- **Emotional Abuse:** any attempt to control another person's life through words, threats, fears, and/or deprivation in such a way that it impairs a person's God-given sense of self-worth.
- **Sexual Abuse:** any sexual experience forced on one person by another, which may or may not involve physical contact between people. Sexual abuse also includes any role-inappropriate sexual encounter, even if consensual at the time.

**Adult:** A person who is eighteen years of age or older.

**Calvin CRC, Calvin Church, the church,** or **the congregation** refers to Calvin Christian Reformed Church of Ottawa.

**Children/Youth:** In general, these terms are used to refer to all children under the age of eighteen. Specific age designations for specific policies are identified in the relevant section for each program.

**Church Year:** For the purpose of this policy, the Church year is considered to start on September 1<sup>st</sup> and end on August 31<sup>st</sup>.

**CRC or CRCNA:** Christian Reformed Church of North America.

**Council** or **Church Council**: The body of elders and deacons of Calvin Church who serve as its highest governing body, with responsibility for supervising the life and doctrine of the congregation.

**Girls and Boys Clubs:** Programs for girls and boys in grades 1 to 6 (Normally also referred to as GEMS and Cadets)

**Friend:** is a person with intellectual disabilities participating in the Friendship Group.

**Hall Monitor:** Person that monitors the halls of the church during worship services to ensure the people using the facilities remain safe.

**Harassment:** Another form of abuse; references to "abuse" in this policy include Workplace Harassment and Workplace Sexual Harassment as defined below.

**Leaders**: Persons who give leadership in any of Calvin's ministries/programs, including but not limited to elders, deacons, church school teachers, Friendship group leaders, youth group leaders, counsellors, and leaders of short-term activities.

**Member:** A person who has formally joined Calvin Church or who participates regularly in the worship and the community life of Calvin Church.

**Mentor:** An adult who is paired with a young person from grades 9 to 12 and offers guidance to facilitate the spiritual growth and development of the young person (mentee). The mentor and mentee meet once per month over the four-year period, developing an emotional bond over time.

Ministries: Programs or activities accountable to the leadership of Calvin CRC.

**Ministry Board:** The supervisory body for all church programs, with responsibility for implementation of the Safe Church Policy in church programs.

**Minor:** A person who is considered not fully responsible/accountable by reason of age, as defined in the relevant statutes of the Province of Ontario.

**Ministers/Pastor**: Anyone called and ordained to serve as ministry personnel at Calvin Church.

Nursery Attendant: A volunteer supervising infants and children in Calvin CRC's Nursery.

Pastoral Care Worker: Person who visits or provides care on behalf of Calvin CRC.

Police Records Check (Level 3--Vulnerable Sector Check): A search by the police for records of criminal convictions and negative police contacts, using local and national databases. Police records checks are one screening tool in abuse prevention policies.

**Safe Church Ministry**: A resource for churches in abuse awareness prevention and response (a ministry of the Christian Reformed Church of North America).

**Safe Church Committee/SCC:** Committee appointed by the Ministry Board of Calvin CRC with mandate and responsibilities detailed in section 9 of this policy.

**Safe Church Policy/SCP:** Guiding principles and procedures to create an environment that nurtures the dignity and safety of every person.

**Safe Church Team:** The Safe Church Team assists the churches of Classis Eastern Canada to develop safe and wholesome communities through education, healing (financial assistance from a Counselling Fund) and in the event of an allegation of abuse, provides an advisory panel and designates an advocate.

**Vulnerable Person**: A person who on account of mental or physical impairments or temporary distress has special needs for protection.

**Worker:** Everyone affiliated with Calvin CRC including but not necessarily limited to members, attendees, paid and un-paid staff members, leaders, volunteers and program participants.

# **Workplace Harassment:**

- (a) engaging in a course of vexatious comment or conduct against a worker in a workplace that is known or ought reasonably to be known to be unwelcome, or
- (b) workplace sexual harassment

# **Workplace Sexual Harassment:**

- (a) engaging in a course of vexatious comment or conduct against a worker in a workplace because of sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or gender expression, where the course of comment or conduct is known or ought reasonably to be known to be unwelcome, or
- (b) making a sexual solicitation or advance where the person making the solicitation or advance is in a position to confer, grant or deny a benefit or advancement to the worker and the person knows or ought reasonably to know that the solicitation or advance is unwelcome

**Youth programs**: Any activity which is sponsored by the leadership of Calvin Church for the benefit/education of children and youth. Official church youth programs can be identified as those for which participation is requested or urged via the weekly bulletin, or any flyer printed with the knowledge or consent of members of the pastoral team or ministry board of Calvin.

#### 4. GUIDING PRINCIPLES

- All people are image bearers of God, worthy of respect, and therefore will be treated in a manner that respects dignity and does not demean them in their own eyes or in the eyes of others. Human sexuality is also a gift of God to be respected, valued and celebrated.
- Abuse of any person is not acceptable and will not be tolerated. We will strive to
  foster the development of healthy relationships and prevent abuse in our ministries.
  To the best of our ability, we will avoid situations that may give rise to abuse,
  unfounded allegations of abuse, or the appearance of impropriety.
- 3. All members of Calvin CRC are urged to be vigilant against abuse and will be held accountable for their words and actions. Those who violate the standards of conduct expected of them will be subject to disciplinary measures by Calvin CRC.
- 4. While parents have the primary responsibility for the care and nurture of their children, Calvin CRC and the larger community also share in the responsibility to protect and promote the well-being of all children.

- 5. By the grace of God, healing is possible for victims of abuse. Healing is assisted through the ministry of the church and wise counselling, which should be offered as early as possible.
- 6. By the grace of God, forgiveness and restoration to church fellowship is possible for repentant offenders and can be assisted through the ministry of the church and wise counselling. In some cases, however, appropriate long-term restrictions may be necessary.
- 7. Authority vested in the leadership of Calvin Church, both ordained and nonordained, will be exercised with the highest of ethical standards. Leaders have a special responsibility to take preventive and corrective measures.
- 8. When reports of suspected abuse occur, appropriate investigative and corrective actions will begin without delay. All actions will support healing, repentance, and restoration of the abused and the abuser. For abusers, these actions may include disciplinary measures, up to and including denial of volunteer or paid positions and other privileges of church membership. After satisfactory resolution, suitability for return to a volunteer or paid position will be reviewed. Should an abuser leave the congregation prior to an adequate resolution of the issues involved, Calvin will advise the receiving church of the outstanding issues, while maintaining appropriate discretion and confidentiality.
- 9. Abuse is also a crime punishable under federal and provincial laws in Canada. The Bible teaches respect for the mandate of civil authorities to maintain justice; we pledge to co-operate with them in the implementation of laws prohibiting abuse. All allegations of abuse of a minor will be reported without delay to the Children's Aid Society and/or police, as required by provincial law. As a church, however, we will not leave the matter of abuse and its impacts to the law courts and social services alone, because abuse and healing also have a spiritual dimension. The church has its own calling, as Christ's ambassadors, to offer protection for children, warn against the abuse of authority, and provide a healing ministry for those whose lives have been affected by the sin of abuse.

#### 5. POLICY SCOPE

This policy applies to all programs and activities of Calvin CRC.

## 5.1. General Risk Reduction Strategies

**Access**: All rooms used for meetings will have windows in or near the doors. Windows will not be covered or obstructed at any time.

**Supervision**: Two or more adults should be present for all activities involving minors or vulnerable persons, though not necessarily in the same room. When only two adults are present for an activity involving only one or two participants, the activity should be done in a context that is visible to others and the adults should not be from the same family.

**Meetings**: Adults will meet one on one with minors or vulnerable persons only in public spaces or locations where they are clearly visible to others. Meetings for the purposes of pastoral care should occur in a public space or with the accompaniment of another pastoral worker or spouse (with exceptions discussed in 6.1(2) and 6.3(4)). All leaders

and volunteers are expected to exercise discretion and avoid situations that may lead to perceptions of impropriety.

**Hallways**: Hallways will be monitored during the entire worship service when children/youth programs are in session. Parents and guardians are responsible for their children before and after the service.

**Out-of-town:** Any leader of Calvin CRC who travels out of town on Calvin CRC business with one other person will inform his/her ministry head or the chair of the governing body ahead of time.

# 5.2. Discipline in Church Programs

All discipline is carried out in love, not anger. The goal of discipline is change in behaviour, never vengeance. The following guidelines apply for all children's and youth programs:

- 1. Corporal punishment is not appropriate under any circumstances.
- 2. Abusive verbal punishment (insults, yelling) is not permitted.
- 3. Concerns about recurring behavioural issues will be reported to the program supervisor.
- 4. When a young person misbehaves beyond the need for minor correction or persists in a pattern of misbehaviour, the parent or guardian will be informed and involved in remedial response.
- 5. If young persons misbehave, leaders should try to:
  - redirect them with another activity;
  - help them focus on other acceptable behaviour;
  - isolate them from others; time-outs should be age-appropriate.
- 6. When misbehaviour is an ongoing problem, an aide should be provided for the classroom.
- 7. Evidence of abusive behaviour will be reported, using the established protocol (see Reporting of Abuse in section 10 of this policy).

# 5.3. Screening

- Appointments to leadership positions of programs involving minors and vulnerable persons will be made by or on behalf of the Ministry Board with the concurrence of the Safe Church Committee (see section 9 of this policy).
- 2. Any member of the congregation who has reason to think that any staff or volunteers of Calvin might not be acceptable for work with young or vulnerable persons should inform a member of the Safe Church Committee, the pastoral team or a Ministry Board member.
- 3. The following persons (18 years of age and older) will supply a current police records check (Level 3—Vulnerable Sector Check) (not more than 6 months old):

- Paid staff
- Leaders (as defined in section 3 of this policy)
- Hall Monitors
- Pastoral Care Workers
- Nursery attendants who have been attending Calvin CRC for less than two years
- Anyone that has opportunity to visit with or otherwise work unsupervised on Calvin CRC's behalf with youth or vulnerable persons
- Any individual or additional role that the Safe Church Committee may determine should be required to provide a police records check

All costs for these police records checks will be paid by Calvin CRC.

All volunteers who have been attending Calvin CRC for less than two years may also be requested to consent to a reference check with their previous church/organization.

- 4. Before assuming their responsibilities, all paid staff and volunteers will review the Safe Church Policy, Version 11.0, and sign the pledge form (Appendix B) attesting that they have applied for or have supplied a police records check (Level 3—Vulnerable Sector Check).
- 5. Written reports of police and reference checks will be placed in a permanent, confidential file in a secure location in the church, to be consulted only by members of the Safe Church Committee, the Chair of the Ministry Board and the Clerk of the church. Anyone may request to see the content of his or her own file.
- 6. When large numbers of volunteers are needed for short-term activities, such as Vacation Bible School, those who will not have opportunity to meet alone with children will be exempt from the provisions of paragraph 5.3(3) above. Everyone will be provided with a copy of the Safe Church Policy and expected to comply with it. In advance of the event, the leader will recommend to the Safe Church Committee which positions can be exempt; the decision of the Safe Church Committee will be final.
- 7. If a police records check reveals past criminal activity or negative police contact which have no bearing on possible relationships with children and vulnerable adults, the Safe Church Committee may approve that person for activities with children/youth or adults. When a police record check reveals past activity or negative police contact which has a bearing on his/her position, the person may not take on the responsibilities of the role until a satisfactory review had been completed and implementation of appropriate restrictions has been put in place.
- 8. If any member of the congregation is restrained by court order from being alone with a child, the Safe Church Committee and Ministry Board will be responsible to take steps that comply with such orders, within the scope of Calvin's onsite or offsite activities.

# **5.4. Transportation of Minors**

NOTE: Arrangements to transport minors between home and church by someone other than the parent or guardian will be considered a private arrangement, not a church arrangement subject to this policy.

- 1. Persons who chauffeur minors for church activities will be familiar with and concur with this policy. An activity leader may deny someone permission to serve as chauffeur for any particular activity and the leader's decision will be final.
- 2. Transportation for church activities will be arranged in advance as much as possible. There will not be fewer than three persons at a time in the vehicle, except upon the specific request of a parent or quardian at the beginning or end of a route.

# 5.5. Training and Information

- 1. All members of Calvin Church will be asked to become familiar with this policy and to suggest improvements.
- 2. All leaders of child/youth/friendship programs will:
  - Be required to complete the training offered on preventative measures and recognition of the signs of abuse;
  - Annually review Calvin's Safe Church Policy.
  - Ask for help from their ministry leader or a member of the Safe Church Committee to help them meet their responsibilities.
- 3. Leaders of child/youth programs will be encouraged to make use of appropriate educational materials in their programs in order to inform minors and vulnerable persons on how to protect themselves and get help when needed.

# 5.6. Taking and Online Posting of Pictures and Videos

With today's technologies, the online posting of an individual's image on social media and other websites can lead to concerns about the individual's privacy and security. Controlling what pictures/videos are taken is difficult as many people have cell phones or other portable devices that can take pictures anywhere. To seek a balance between allowing the taking of pictures and videos to foster a friendly environment and promote the community while safeguarding the privacy of individuals the following guidelines have been adopted:

- 1. The following restrictions apply to the internet posting of pictures and videos taken during programs and activities of Calvin CRC:
  - Images where a person under 16 years of age is easily identified will not be posted without the written permission of a parent or guardian. This permission may be obtained on an annual basis via consent forms for program enrollment.
  - No GPS, specific address information, last names or other identifying information will be included in posted caption(s) or images or in the properties of the posted file.

- Pastors and Ministry leaders will not, via social media, "tag" individuals in postings and will, to the extent possible, block tagging by others. ("Tagging" is connecting a person's social media profile, such as Facebook, to a posted image.)
- Requests to remove a posted image or modify the posted image to obscure an individual's identity will be honoured.
- 2. Taking pictures or videos in the nursery or Church School classes is not allowed except by persons authorized by the Safe Church Committee.
- 3. Pictures and videos taken at large group events are considered safe to post, provided that opportunity is provided for individuals to indicate they do not wish to have their own or their child's image posted. Notification of this opportunity may be included in event announcements, an announcement at the event and/or periodic publication of these guidelines.
- 4. Reasonable steps will be taken to honour requests by individuals who do not wish to have their own or their child's image posted. It is expected that these same individuals will try to stay out of camera view when they notice a picture being taken.

NOTE: Calvin CRC, its directors, staff and members cannot guarantee that these guidelines will always be followed and will not assume any liability for individuals who fail to respect them.

# 5.7. Visiting Logs

Every person who makes visits on behalf of Calvin will maintain logs of visits and meetings, as detailed below:

- a. The Logs will include the following information:
  - i. Date of visit.
  - ii. Name of person or persons visited.
  - iii. Name(s) of anyone that accompanied the visitor, including spouse.
  - iv. In the event the visit was done in a private setting with only two persons present, the name of the person who was informed of the visit before it took place.
- b. Logs will be reviewed regularly, a minimum of once every three months, by the accountability partner or supervisor/chair of the governing body that the visitor is part of. For office bearers, it is suggested that this be done at their meetings.
  - Note that confidentiality concerns may prevent a visitor from showing his/her log to the entire team he or she is part of, but at least one person must review the contents of the entire log.
- c. Meetings for Calvin's ministries where only two or three persons are present will be recorded in the visiting log.
- d. Phone calls or other methods of communications, conversations during social times at Calvin and brief stops at a person's home to pick up or drop

off items are not considered visits, but may be recorded in the log if a permanent record of the event is desired.

At the end of each Church year, the chair or supervisor of each governing body will place all logs for the year in a sealed envelope that is clearly marked with its contents. This envelope will be forwarded to the SCC for its archives.

#### 5.8. Harassment

At Calvin, harassment of any kind will not be tolerated. See section 3 of this policy for definitions of Workplace and Workplace Sexual harassment.

All staff and volunteers at Church and Church sponsored programs must be aware of and comply with the requirements of the Occupational Health and Safety Act of Ontario as amended and as it applies to non-profit organizations.

## 6. CODES OF CONDUCT

## 6.1. Code of Conduct for Pastoral Staff

Pastoral staff is called by God and the congregation to serve Calvin CRC as spiritual leaders and advisors, in accordance with their ordination. Members of the congregation - in particular those who seek counsel - look upon pastors as spiritual advisors, mentors, and role models, to be trusted by both children and adults. Abuse of that trust can have a devastating effect on the lives of individuals and on the life and ministry of the congregation. To help ensure trust is maintained, pastoral staff will abide by the following guidelines:

## 1. Boundaries

Pastors, together with their governing body (elders and deacons), will develop and review boundaries for pastoral care and counselling relationships, including such matters as:

- counselling expertise
- time to be spent with counselees
- referrals to appropriate outside agencies

Individual cases will be reviewed with the person designated to supervise a pastor's work.

Pastors shall be cautious with touch. Limit the display of physical affection to a brief hug or a pat on the back or forearm, ensuring that any such contact is welcome and solely intended to benefit the counselee or parishioner.

# 2. Meetings and Visits

**Pastoral meetings** may be held in church offices when others are in the building. When no one else is in the building such meetings will be held in public places, such as a coffee shop or in the church fellowship hall, which is easily visible to persons outside the building.

If a pastoral care relationship requires **repeat visits**, an accountability review will be established with the pastoral staff's supervisor. Should the reason or frequency of visits be questioned by the supervisor, visits will be suspended and advice sought

from a third party with relevant expertise. The supervisor may also contact the individual who was visited, with discretion.

Visits or meetings with persons at home when no one else is present will normally not be conducted. However, when such visits are necessary or desired, they will be reported before the visit to a co-worker, an elder or deacon and at the next meeting to the chair of the governing body (elders and deacons). Such visits will also be included in the pastoral contact log.

# 3. Pastoral Contact Log

Pastors will maintain a confidential pastoral contact log, noting all persons with whom they meet in the course of their pastoral duties. This log will be available for review, on a confidential basis, by their supervisor. At year end the log will be filed in a sealed envelope, under lock in the archives, to maintain confidentiality. The pastor and the supervisor will sign the seal of the envelope.

# 4. Confidentiality

Information given in confidence will be respected and counselees assured of confidentiality. However, when personal safety, life, or the well-being of a minor is at risk, some information cannot morally or legally be held in confidence, and counselees will be informed of that.

# 6.2. Code of Conduct for Non-pastoral Staff

Support staff persons are called to serve God by helping Calvin Church function effectively as a family of God.

- 1. **Meetings**: One on one meetings with visitors/members will be held in easily visible areas e.g. fellowship hall.
- 2. **Reporting:** Any behaviour that makes improper or questionable use of church facilities will be reported to the appropriate supervisor.

## 6.3. Code of Conduct for Elders, Deacons, and Other Pastoral Care Workers

- Boundaries: Elders, deacons and other pastoral care workers shall be cautious
  with touch. Limit the display of physical affection to a brief hug or a pat on the back
  or forearm, ensuring that any such contact is welcome and solely intended to benefit
  the counselee or parishioner.
- Confidentiality: Information shared with elders, deacons, and other pastoral care workers will be held in confidence, except when the safety of someone is at risk. If needed for protection, information will be given to appropriate persons only and the person giving the information will be advised that it cannot be maintained confidential for safety reasons.
- 3. Meetings with Children/Youth: Elders and deacons are encouraged to develop supportive relationships with young people and be available for spiritual advice; young people are encouraged to seek spiritual advice from any member of the pastoral care team. Meetings will be held in public places. If a one-on-one relationship leads to repeated visits, both parties will mutually decide on a third person to be informed for the purposes of support and mutual accountability.

4. Visits or meetings with persons at home when no one else is present will normally not be conducted. However, when such visits are necessary or desired, they will be reported before the visit to a co-worker, an elder or deacon and at the next meeting to the chair of the governing body (elders and deacons). The pastoral care provider will establish an accountability relationship with the governing body (elders and deacons) and report on the number of visits and the general nature of them.

## 5. Prayer Visits

Prayer visits will only be made at the prior request or approval of parties concerned. The following protocol will be maintained during such visits:

- Options to either raise hands towards the area or laying on of hands will be
  offered so there is no pressure to accept physical touch. The prayer
  recipient might otherwise not be comfortable saying no due to the power
  dynamics.
- The following areas of the body will be respected and off limits for laying on of hands by members of the prayer team. They are the front of the torso between the knees and the shoulders and the lower back to the knees.
- If the person being prayed for has agreed with the laying on of hands the prayer team can at any time lay hands on the person's shoulder during prayer.
- Because of the physical contact in the laying on of hands and because visits by a prayer team are most often done in the privacy of a person's home, the prayer team will consist of at least two persons.

# 6. Visiting Logs

Each elder, deacon, pastoral care worker, and prayer team member will maintain a log of all his/her visits as detailed in section 5.7 of this policy.

# 6.4. Code of Conduct for Youth Program Leaders

The following pledge serves as a code of conduct for youth leaders and mentors:

- 1. My first priority is prayerfully to seek the welfare of the children/youth and promote their healthy development spiritually, physically, socially, emotionally and educationally.
- The activities for which I am responsible will be done to help children/youth grow in faith, become disciples of Christ, and develop loving, caring, and responsible ways of living.
- 3. I will keep parents informed about the program I am teaching and what time it begins and ends.
- 4. I will not knowingly do anything that will damage a child or youth's trust, and I will try to protect the child/youth from all forms of abuse while he or she is in my care.
- 5. I will work with the children/youth to set agreed guidelines for acceptable behaviour within the group, and expect them to act on the basis of agreed guidelines. If a child consistently breaks the guidelines, I will seek help from other youth leaders and parents to assist me in responding to the child.
- 6. I will try to offer comfort and help to a child/youth who is distressed and will encourage the child to find appropriate help for his/her needs.

- 7. I will ensure that, when I need to meet with a child/youth alone, the discussion will be in an open area such that others can at all times see me with the child. Furthermore, I will inform my activity supervisor and/or the parent(s) or guardian of such meetings.
- 8. I will endeavour to avoid focussing on one child repeatedly for praise or special attention.

#### 7. POLICIES FOR SPECIFIC PROGRAMS

# 7.1. Childcare/Nursery

Nursery attendants will annually review Calvin's policy and procedures pertaining to abuse prevention.

1. The nursery protection procedures and the list of approved nursery caregivers will be posted in the nursery.

# 2. Nursery Attendants

- The nursery will always be staffed by at least two approved caregivers, who are
  not members of the same family, and one of whom is an adult. No person will be
  left alone in charge of the children unless another has gone to get a parent.
- Only persons on the list of nursery caregivers may serve as caregivers under normal circumstances. If extra assistance is needed and at least three persons who have signed the Safe Church Pledge are present, they may be assisted by a parent, grandparent, or sibling of a child in attendance, even though the additional person has not signed the Safe Church Pledge.
- Adults who are scheduled for nursery service will have another approved adult to replace them, should they be unable to serve.
- Nursery helpers will be a minimum 11 years old

# 3. Registry

- Parents will be asked to sign in when they bring a child and provide each child with his or her name tag. They will also alert the attendants to any condition that may cause problems.
- All attendants present will sign the registry.
- The completed registry logs will be forwarded to the Safe Church Committee to be filed in the SCC archives.

## 4. Specific Procedures

- Any medical problem that arises will be reported to the parent/guardian immediately.
- Diapers will be changed in view of others.
- Nursery attendants will not take a child from the nursery area to an area that is not visible from the main nursery room.
- As outlined in section 5.6 of this policy, the taking of pictures and videos in the nursery while children are present is not permitted.

# 7.2. Church School Program

- A teacher plus an assistant, minimum age of 11 will be in charge of each class for ages three, four, and five. Consideration will be given to gender and age in the appointment of teaching teams.
- 2. The teacher will normally be positioned so that he or she can be seen easily through the windows.
- 3. Children in Grade 2 and younger will only be released to a member of their immediate family, unless the parent/guardian has informed the teacher that someone else is authorized to pick up the child. Children in Grade 3 and older may be released to find their way to their parents/family unless the parents inform the teacher of other arrangements.
- Children should not leave the classroom except for illness, bathroom privileges, or other compelling reasons.
- Children under the age of five will be accompanied to the lavatory. For children who do not require assistance in the toilet, the attendant will remain in the lavatory. For children who require assistance, the attendant will take the child to the washroom located in the nursery.

# 7.3. Girls and Boys Clubs

- 1. Boys and girls should not arrive more than ten minutes before the start of their meetings and will be met by their parents/drivers immediately at the end of the program. Parents/guardians are asked not to leave a child when the doors are locked and no counsellor is present. No counsellor will retain a child for a one-on-one meeting for more than ten minutes after the end of the program.
- Counsellors should provide adequate supervision of groups. Each function should be supervised by at least two persons, an adult leader and another volunteer at least four years older than the oldest club member.
- 3. Club leaders will identify abusive behaviours among participants in their program and implement strategies to discourage these behaviours.
- 4. If a child needs significant medical attention the parent and/or legal guardian should be notified immediately.

- 5. Any club activities away from the church facility, out of town, or overnight should be conducted in general compliance with the policies above. When children are billeted in private homes out of town, or we arrange billeting here for out of town children/youth, no fewer than two children per billet will be the rule.
- 6. Appropriate displays of affection between counsellors and their respective club members are often part of conveying support and encouragement to one another. Such displays of affection should be limited to actions like a brief hug, an arm around the shoulder, an open-handed pat on the back, or a handclasp, and they should not take place in private. A counsellor's or counselee's right to refuse any of these will be respected. Counsellors shall be cautious with touch. Limit the display of physical affection to a brief hug or a pat on the back or forearm, ensuring that any such contact is welcome and solely intended to benefit the club member.

# 7.4. Clubs for Teens and Young People

- 1. Youth group leaders will provide supervision for all functions. At least two leaders will be present; if a couple is leading, a third adult should be present.
- 2. Any activities away from the church facility, out of town, or overnight, will be conducted in general compliance with established policies. When youth are billeted in private homes out of town, or billeting is arranged here for out of town youth, no fewer than two youth per billet will be the rule.
- 3. Appropriate displays of affection between youth leaders and youth group members are often part of conveying support and encouragement to one another. Such displays of affection should be limited to actions like a brief hug, an arm around the shoulder, an open-handed pat on the back, or a handclasp, and they should not take place in private. A youth leader's or youth group member's right to refuse any of these will be respected. Youth leaders shall be cautious with touch. Limit the display of physical affection to a brief hug or a pat on the back or forearm, ensuring that any such contact is welcome and solely intended to benefit the youth group member.
- 4. Gifts, phone calls, or letters directed to a youth group member by a youth group leader or vice versa should only be ministry-related.

# 7.5. Friendship Group

- 1. **Transportation:** Transportation of Friends between home and church by someone other than the parent or guardian will be considered a private arrangement, not a church arrangement subject to this policy.
- 2. **Supervision Guidelines:** There needs to be adequate supervision before and after Friendship Group. A ratio of 1 volunteer or leader to 3 friends is suggested. During study sessions, a ratio of 1:1 is preferred.
- 3. **Bathroom guidelines**: If necessary, friends should be assisted by someone of the same gender in such a manner as to ensure their privacy and safety. This may require more than one leader.

When friends routinely need assistance or need assistance with medical devices, caregivers should provide this assistance. Plans for assisting the friend should be made before attending the Friendship Group.

# 4. Physical and Verbal Contact:

- a. Physical affection initiated by a volunteer or leader should be limited to side-toside hugs, pats on the back or forearm, touching the back of the hand and gently squeezing the hand.
- b. Both the friend and the volunteer/leader can say "no" to physical affection and refrain from displays of affection. If a friend is unable to verbalize "no", notice carefully their body language and facial expression that may indicate discomfort with physical affection.
- c. It isn't appropriate to make lewd or suggestive comments to friends, or tell them dirty or off-color jokes. Details or discussions about one's intimate life shouldn't come up in a Friendship meeting.
- Corrective Action: Consequences or corrections to attitude and/or behaviours are sometimes necessary in a Friendship meeting. If a leader thinks a correction or consequence is needed, these guidelines may help. They are not intended to be progressive steps of correction.
  - a. Give a verbal reminder to follow the rules, if appropriate.
  - b. Involve another leader, guardian or caregiver.
  - c. Ask the friend to leave the room for a few minutes and take a time-out.
  - d. End the meeting.
  - e. Ask the friend not to come to the program for a period of time until an agreement can be reached about acceptable behaviour.
  - f. If a situation arises away from the Friendship program, stay in a public setting because moving to a private or isolated setting may increase vulnerability for the leader and the friend. Use a cell phone to seek assistance or to relay what is happening to someone else.
  - g. If problems continue beyond minor correction, don't hesitate to share them with a parent, guardian, or caregiver and apprise them of how the situation has been handled.

Physical intervention including slapping, hitting, kicking, punching is not ever appropriate. Physical restraint may be necessary only to prevent harm or injury to the friend, leader, or other persons nearby. Lashing out in anger or verbal abuse will likely cause more harm to the other person and to the relationship.

## 8. ACCOUNTABILITY

Final responsibility for adherence to this policy rests with the Ministry Board, which will appoint a Safe Church Committee for the purpose of monitoring implementation in all church activities. Procedures will be adopted, and revised from time to time, for the various activities/functions within the church. These steps will include, but are not necessarily limited to, the following:

- 1. All paid staff and volunteer leaders will be accountable to the head/co-ordinator of the program/ministry with which they are involved.
- 2. All paid and volunteer leaders and nursery caregivers will sign the Safe Church Pledge to indicate agreement with the Safe Church Policy before assuming their duties. A new pledge will normally be signed with a revision of the policy, at the discretion of the Safe Church Committee.
- 3. Parents of children will be asked to familiarize themselves with the rules governing a particular activity when their child is enrolled in an activity or program.
- 4. The policy document and revisions approved by the Ministry Board will be dated and kept in a permanent file.

#### 9. SAFE CHURCH COMMITTEE

The Ministry Board will appoint a Safe Church Committee. The Committee will consist of a minimum of four persons, two female, two male. In addition the Ministry Board may assign one of its members as liaison to the committee. Individual roles and responsibilities, including chairperson, will be assigned during the first committee meeting of the Church year.

The mandate of the Committee is:

- 1. To review the Safe Church Policy and procedures and recommend to the Ministry Board such changes as will be of benefit to the Calvin family.
- 2. To monitor implementation of the policy in all programs and activities that takes place under the auspices of Calvin Church.
- 3. To develop forms and procedures to facilitate consistent terminology and record keeping.
- 4. To review all appointments for leadership positions, paid and volunteer. The committee's objection to an appointment will be binding, but may, in special circumstances, be appealed to the Ministry Board.
- 5. To maintain the records of signed pledges, reference checks, police records checks, visiting logs and nursery registries required under this policy. These documents will be kept on file for at least fifty years as a record of due diligence. These records will be stored in a locked cabinet in the Archives Room.
- 6. To organize training sessions or provide training resources for leaders and volunteers.
- 7. To monitor and keep a record of participation in training for abuse prevention.
- 8. To report at least once each year to the Ministry Board on the work of the committee and measures taken for the safety of the church family.

Persons assigned to the Safe Church Committee will be provided with such training as is necessary to enable them to perform their tasks with wisdom and effectiveness.

## 10. REPORTING OF ABUSE

## 10.1. General Policies

- Evidence or suspicion of abuse by anyone in a leadership position or of a minor will be reported and handled with care. The purpose of reporting is to stop the abuse, to provide assistance for the victim, to hold the perpetrator accountable and to begin the process of correction and redemption.
- 2. Confidentiality will be respected. The name of a victim will not be made public without her or his consent. An alleged abuser will be assumed to be innocent until a conviction is registered or an admission is recorded.
- 3. Evidence or disclosure of abuse of a person who is a minor will be reported to civil authorities, in keeping with the provisions of provincial law. Abuse of a person who is not/no longer a minor will be reported to outside authorities only with the consent of the victim, even if the abuse occurred while the person was a minor. In situations where the victim is a vulnerable person, it may be necessary to notify civil authorities.
- 4. All suspicion or disclosure of abuse will be brought to the attention of the Safe Church Committee or chair of the Ministry Board.
- 5. Calvin CRC recognizes and respects the right of a victim to pursue legal remedies through civil courts, independent of any action taken within the processes established by the CRC. Spiritual support, pastoral help, and other forms of appropriate engagement by the church will be provided, whether or not legal action is taken in a particular case.

## 10.2. Protocol for Reporting Abuse

- 1. Anyone who has evidence or disclosure of abuse should inform a member of the Safe Church Committee or the chair of Ministry Board.
  - Do **not** alert the accused person that an accusation has been made. Doing so could result in further harm to the victim, cause the accused person to destroy evidence, or cause the accused person unnecessary anxiety if the accusation, after investigation, is found to be neither serious nor probable.
  - Do **not** communicate further at this point. The smaller the circle is the better as confidentiality is key at every stage.
- 2. For the purposes of accuracy, the person reporting is asked to write down as soon as possible what was observed or heard and submit it to the Safe Church Committee in confidence.
- 3. The Safe Church Committee will, in consultation with the victim, as appropriate, determine what course of action will be taken, including:
  - referral to the appropriate pastoral team member as a matter requiring pastoral counselling;
  - recommendation that the Council Executive request that the Safe Church Team of Classis establish an advisory panel to engage in fact-finding and provide advice to the Council Executive;

- notification to civil authorities, when required under the provisions of provincial law.
- 4. The Safe Church Committee operates in an advisory capacity to the designated authorities in the church. Any pastoral and/or disciplinary action will be taken by the designated authorities, operating under the established rules of order of the CRC.
- 5. If the situation involves a minor, the incident will be reported to the appropriate civil authorities, under the provision of provincial law. If pastoral staff is available and not implicated, they will call the appropriate authorities. Failing that, if a member of the Safe Church Committee is available, they will call the appropriate authorities. If neither is available, the person with evidence or disclosure should report, as required by the law. If there is a question about the need to report, advice can be obtained by calling the Children's Aid Society.
- 6. If the situation involves a vulnerable adult who may be subject to provincial trusteeship, the Safe Church Committee will determine the need to notify civil authorities.
- 7. If the situation involves a church leader, matters such as notification, temporary suspension from office, and disciplinary measures will be handled in accordance with the process adopted by the Synod of the CRC. Depending on the circumstances and severity of the incident, suspension from a position, with pay for paid staff, may be temporary to allow time for further investigation, and will be done without prejudice as to the final determination. Suspension may include limitations or conditions on contact with children or other church members, pending the conclusion of a more formal hearing process. Disciplinary measures will be in accordance with the established policies of the Synod of the CRC, including, when appropriate, a permanent ban on holding pastoral office in the CRC.

## 11. WEBSITE LINKS

Following are some websites that may be helpful. The website addresses listed were valid at the time this version was published, but may or may not be remain valid.

Calvin Christian Reformed Church – Ottawa:

http://www.calvincrc.ca/

Classis Eastern Canada's Safe Church team:

http://www.classiseasterncanada.ca/safe-church/

Christian Reformed Church's Safe Church Ministry:

http://www.crcna.org/SafeChurch

# 12. RECORD OF ADOPTION AND REVISION OF SAFE CHURCH POLICY

**Note** that versions 1.0 to 8.0 were called "Abuse Prevention Policy". With version 9.0, this policy was renamed "Safe Church Policy".

Version	Date	Status	Comments
1.0	April, 1999	Approved	Version adopted by Council
2.0	March 2005	Approved	Approved by Council
3.0, 4.0, 5.0	2006	Drafts Only	Changes per APC meetings to be presented to the Ministry Board
6.0	Sept. 18, 2006	APPROVED by Ministry Board	
6.1 – 6.9	April 2007 – Sept. 2007	Drafts Only	Various changes as per Auditors feedback, MB feedback and APC discussions.
7.0	Sept. 10, 2007	APPROVED by Ministry Board	
8.0	Sept 13, 2010	APPROVED by Ministry Board	
9.0	June 17, 2013	APPROVED by Ministry Board	<ul> <li>First version named "Safe Church Policy"</li> <li>Added sections: 5.6 &amp; 11.</li> <li>Various changes as per Auditors reports and SCC discussions.</li> </ul>
10.0	June 16, 2017	APPROVED by Ministry Board	<ul> <li>Minor updates for clarification.</li> <li>Added Hall Monitor Guidelines (move from Calvin's Governance Manual) to an appendix in this Policy.</li> <li>Added section 5.7 regarding Visiting Logs.</li> <li>Added section 5.8 regarding Harassment and definitions for Harassment to section 3 (to comply with Ontario Bill 132 changes to Occupational Health &amp; Safety Act to include non-profit organizations).</li> </ul>
11.0	August 2020	APPROVED by Ministry Board	<ul> <li>Added guidance, several places, regarding touch or hugs.</li> <li>Inserted an additional bullet in section 10.2 regarding interaction with accused person when dealing a report of abuse.</li> <li>Clarified Hall Monitor and Police Records Check definitions.</li> <li>Added definition of Mentor</li> <li>Additional minor updates for clarification</li> </ul>

The most recent version of this policy can be found on the Calvin CRC website or by contacting the office of Calvin CRC.

# **Appendix A. Guidelines for Hall Monitors**

The objective of having Hall Monitors is to ensure that the facilities at Calvin CRC are safe during the morning worship services, including Good Friday, Thanksgiving and Christmas.

The Safe Church Committee will recruit and coordinate the hall monitors. Coffee servers and greeters may also be asked to volunteer as they would be able to perform both duties on the same Sunday. The goal is to have 10 - 12 persons to call on so that the individuals serving as hall monitors will miss the worship services less frequently.

## **Responsibilities:**

- 1. The hall monitor duty begins his/her duties a few minutes prior to the start of the service by doing a check of the classrooms downstairs. He/she will then return upstairs at the start of the service and then remain in the Fellowship Hall until the custodian locks the doors at approx. 10:15 a.m.
- 2. Once the outside doors are locked, check entire building, including the washrooms (both upstairs and downstairs), the classrooms and any unlocked and unused rooms such as the youth room and the copier rooms. Opposite gender washrooms can be checked by knocking on the door and then opening the door slowly to see if the light is on. If the light is off, ask in a loud voice if anyone is in there before entering. If the light is on, wait a few minutes to see if anyone exits; if not, then ask if anyone who is in there might need assistance.
- 3. Once the children have gone to their classrooms, continue monitoring the building (as above), both upstairs and downstairs, keeping a look-out for inappropriate and suspicious behaviour of persons not remaining in the sanctuary. Feel free to converse with them inquiring, if necessary, as to why they are not in the service. Also, politely challenge older children that may be wandering the hallways.
- 4. At all times, be prepared to provide emergency assistance knowing the location of the Automatic External Defibrillator (AED) in the Fellowship Hall, the First Aid kit and telephone in the kitchen. Also note that the key for the universal washroom is located in the ministry room next to the washroom. It is high on the side of the shelving unit just inside the door. This will be needed in case the alarm is activated in the washroom and the door is locked.
- 5. The hall monitor's duties are completed once the worship service has ended.
- 6. Report any suspicious activity to a member of the Safe Church Committee. Also approach them with any suggestions, questions or concerns.

# **NOTES**:

- 1. Individuals serving as hall monitors are required to supply a current Police Records Check and sign the Safe Church pledge form.
- 2. "HALL MONITOR" badges can be found in the mail slot just above the bulletins bottom far right. Please wear a badge while on duty and return it to the mail slot at the end of the service.

# Appendix B. Calvin Christian Reformed Church – Safe Church Pledge

(to be completed by signer; PLEASE print for	ull name clearly)
I, Version 11.0 of the Safe Church Policy of C	, have read and understand the alvin Christian Reformed Church.
I agree to the regulations and mandates of them.	the Safe Church Policy and will adhere to
<ul> <li>If my role requires a Police Records check, box):</li> <li>I have applied for a Police Records check Safe Church Committee as soon as I record My Police Records check, Vulnerable se Safe Church Committee.</li> </ul>	ceive it. ector, is attached
I acknowledge that it is my responsibility to wholesome, safe environment for all participactivity that appears to be inappropriate, I where I leader or the Safe Church Committee imme	vill bring it to the attention of my program
I have been a member (attendee) of Calvin	Christian Reformed Church foryears.
Date of birth (if under 18:	
Signature:	Date: